RECEIVED

06-20-2019

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2017AP2265-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CARRIE E. COUNIHAN,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT III, AFFIRMING THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, BOTH ENTERED IN THE DOOR COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DAVID L. WEBER PRESIDING.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

ANA L. BABCOCK State Bar No. 1063719

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. WHETHER THE FORFEITURE RULE APPLIES WHEN THE COURT FIRST REVEALS DURING THE COURSE OF ITS SENTENCING REMARKS THAT IT CONDUCTED ITS OWN INVESTIGATION AND RELIED ON THOSE RESULTS IN FORMING A SENTENCE BUT COUNSEL DOES NOT OBJECT?

The circuit court did not address this issue. The court of appeals concluded that Counihan forfeited her due process claim when her attorney failed to object.

II. WHETHER A DEFENDANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHT AT SENTENCING IS VIOLATED WHEN THE COURT CONDUCTS AN INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATION INTO OTHER FILES WITHOUT ADVANCE NOTICE TO THE PARTIES AND RELIES ON THESE FILES AS THE "MOST SIGNIFICANT" INFORMATION AT SENTENCING?

The circuit court did not directly address this issue, but it did determine that its actions were proper and that the result of the proceeding would have been the same. The court of appeals did not reach this issue because it concluded that Counihan forfeited her due process claim.

III. ALTERNATIVELY, WHETHER COUNIHAN WAS DENIED HER SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEN COUNSEL FAILED TO OBJECT OR REQUEST A CONTINUANCE AFTER THE COURT REVEALED THAT IT CONDUCTED ITS OWN INVESTIGATION AND RELIED ON THE RESULTS OF THAT INVESTIGATION IN FORMING THE SENTENCE?

The circuit court determined that counsel was not deficient and that Counihan has not shown prejudice because it would have given the same sentence regardless. The court of appeals concluded that Counihan failed to establish the prejudice prong because she did not show that her sentence would have been different. The court of appeals did not reach the deficiency prong of her claim.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

As with most cases accepted for review by this Court, oral argument and publication are appropriate.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 2, 2015, the State filed a criminal complaint against the defendant, Carrie E. Counihan, charging her with one count of theft in a business setting greater than \$10,000 and eleven counts of unauthorized use of an entity's identifying information, all felony charges. R. 1. The complaint alleged that Counihan, while acting in her role as Executive Director for the Door County Humane Society (hereinafter "DCHS") used the company credit card and funds for personal expenses estimated at around \$22,000. Id. at 8, 12, 24. Counihan admitted to carelessly using the company card, as opposed to her personal card, eighty-six times from January 2009 to January 2015, with charges totaling approximately \$13,000. *Id.* at 18.

¹ The rule requiring parties to identify victims in briefs by the use of identifiers applies only to natural persons, not organizations. Wis. Stat. § 809.86(3) (2017-18).

The parties ultimately reached a plea agreement Counihan to plead no contest to requiring misdemeanor counts of theft in a business setting, to make an advance payment of restitution and fines of \$12,583.30, to pay a \$500 fine on each count, and to write a letter of apology. R. 22:3. In exchange, the State would dismiss the felony charges and recommend three years probation and sixty days jail time to be stayed, provided that Counihan complied with all probation conditions. *Id.* On October 13, 2016, Counihan pled no contest to the five misdemeanor theft charges pursuant to the agreement. R. 76:8. Following Counihan's plea, a number of community members expressed outrage over the court's acceptance of Counihan's plea to only misdemeanor charges. R. 82-85.

At sentencing, the State and the defense both recommended three years probation with sixty days of stayed jail time. R. 77:4-5, 25-27; App. 110-14. The case garnered significant media attention. R. 80:16. The court made a point to note to the gallery at sentencing that it had nothing to do with the reduction of charges from felonies to misdemeanors, as that decision is solely within the purview of the prosecutor.² R. 77:48-49. After the State and defense made their sentencing arguments, after Counihan exercised her right to allocution, and after several community members gave statements in support of—and against—Counihan, the court advised the parties that, in addition to the items in the record, it had reviewed all of the Door County case files it could find involving theft in a business setting. *Id.* at 47; App. 115.

The court noted that these files were perhaps the *most significant* of all the items it reviewed in reaching a

-

 $^{^2}$ The court was incorrect in this regard, as it has the discretion to reject a plea agreement that it does not find to be in the public's best interests. *State v. Conger*, 2010 WI 56, ¶ 24, 325 Wis. 2d 664, 797 N.W.2d 341.

sentence. *Id.* The court focused its sentencing decision comparing and contrasting these files with Counihan's case, explaining that the amounts in those files ranged from several thousands of dollars to \$300,000 and that every one of the defendants, with the exception of one, spent time in jail. *Id.* at 47, 52-54, 63; App. 115, 120-22, 131. With these files as its guide, the court rejected the joint probation recommendation, and sentenced Counihan to nine months jail. R. 77:62-63; App. 130-31. Counihan had no notice that the court had conducted this independent investigation; thus, she was unable to review or refute the accuracy or completeness of this information, and she was unable present distinguishing factors between the facts of those files and her case.

Counihan subsequently retained postconviction counsel, Attorney Brabazon, who filed a motion for postconviction relief asserting a number of issues, including that her sentencing counsel, Attorney Wimberger, was ineffective in his response-or lack thereof-to the court's conduct in independently researching other files and using those files as a guide in sentencing Counihan.³ R. 55. Specifically, Attorney Brabazon asserted that sentencing counsel should have objected to the court's reliance on these files because this information had not been previously disclosed to Counihan, that counsel should have requested an adjournment to research these files, that counsel should have presented evidence that distinguished these files, and that counsel should have protected the record by asking the court to explain precisely what information it reviewed in these files. Id. at 2.

³ Attorney Brabazon claimed additional deficiencies, which Counihan did not maintain on appeal. *See id.*

At the *Machner*⁴ hearing, Wimberger noted the bizarreness of the court's conduct, but did not have any overall concern. R. 80:32-33; App. 135-36. Indeed, counsel commended the court for being "so measured" in fashioning a sentence. R. 80:32; App. 135. Initially, Wimberger explained that any benefit in reviewing the files before sentencing would have been tremendously minimal and would have shown how much more aggravating Counihan's case was as compared to the other files. R. 80:36; App. 139. However, Wimberger acknowledged that he never reviewed the files and could not identify any factors distinguishing those files from Counihan's case. R. 80:35-36, 44; App. 138-Ultimately, Wimberger conceded that it would have been beneficial to have reviewed and explained the differences between Counihan's case and the other files. R. 80:45-46; App. 148-49. Wimberger also mentioned a tactical decision in not wanting to delay the sentencing proceedings or upset the judge. R. 80:50, 56-59, 64-66; App. 153, 159-62, 167-69.

The circuit court denied Counihan's postconviction motion. R. 61. The court explained that in sentencing a defendant, it can "conduct an inquiry broad in scope and largely unlimited as to the kind of information considered, or the source from which it comes, in terms of sentencing." R. 80:89; App. 172. The court determined that Counihan was not entitled to relief because the result would not have changed. R. 80:100; App. 177. Following the court's denial of her postconviction motion, Counihan retained undersigned counsel, and filed an appeal. R. 62-63.

On appeal, Counihan argued that her right to due process was violated when the court placed significant reliance on information at sentencing that she had no

⁴ State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979)

opportunity to review or rebut. Alternatively, Counihan argued that her attorney was ineffective at sentencing when he failed to object. The court of appeals affirmed the judgment and order of the circuit court. State of Wisconsin v. Carrie E. Counihan, Appeal No. 2017AP2265-CR, filed November 6, 2018. As to Counihan's due process argument, the court of appeals declined to address the issue, concluding that Counihan had forfeited this claim when her attorney failed to object at sentencing. Id., ¶ 10. The court of appeals also denied Counihan's ineffective assistance of counsel claim, concluding that she failed to establish prejudice. *Id.*, ¶ 13. The court explained that Counihan failed to establish how her sentence would have been different, that is, she failed to show that she would have received no jail time had she been aware of the information on which the court would rely. *Id.*, ¶¶ 14, 16. This Court granted review.

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THE FORFEITURE RULE APPLIES WHEN THE COURT FIRST REVEALS DURING THE COURSE OF ITS SENTENCING REMARKS THAT IT CONDUCTED ITS OWN INVESTIGATION AND RELIED ON THOSE RESULTS IN FORMING A SENTENCE BUT COUNSEL DOES NOT OBJECT?

A. The Forfeiture Doctrine

When a defendant fails to make a contemporaneous objection to an error, the defendant may have forfeited the right to appeal that error. *State v. Ndina*, 2009 WI 21, ¶ 30, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612. The forfeiture rule is one of judicial administration and appellate courts can choose to ignore the rule to address the merits of a claim. *State v. Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d 758, 766, 596 N.W.2d 749

(1999). The purpose of the rule is to give parties notice and opportunity to address an issue, to encourage attorneys to diligently prepare for hearings, and to prevent attorneys from "sandbagging" opposing counsel. *Ndina*, 315 Wis. 2d 653, ¶ 30. The forfeiture rule should not be applied when its application does not further the values the rule is intended to protect. *See id.*, ¶ 38.

B. The Forfeiture Rule Should not Apply to Information First Disclosed at Sentencing

Counihan is cognizant that this Court may issue a consolidated opinion with *Coffee*.⁵ Although the facts are somewhat different in the two cases, the principles are cohesive. This Court should hold that the forfeiture rule does not apply when information is first disclosed at *any point* during the sentencing hearing. The timing of the disclosure of the information in Counihan's case is even more concerning than that in *Coffee*, given that it came during the court's sentencing remarks after all opportunity to present evidence, argument, and allocution was closed. Thus, Counihan submits an alternative holding that the forfeiture rule does not apply when information is first disclosed during the course of the court's explanation of the sentence.

When the forfeiture rule is applied to information first disclosed at sentencing, the values it is intended to protect are undermined, not furthered. If the State or the court is permitted to disclose new information at sentencing, a defendant has no notice of a potential issue. See Ndina, 315 Wis. 2d 653, ¶ 30. Similarly, permitting the State or the court to disclose new information at sentencing would encourage "sandbagging" a defendant, by thwarting any opportunity a defendant would have to investigate or

 $^{^{5}}$ State v. Donavinn Coffee, 2017 AP2292-CR, petition for review granted.

rebut this information. *See id.* In addition, allowing such disclosure would certainly discourage diligent preparation, leaving a defendant without the opportunity to adequately prepare for sentencing.

Finally, permitting the disclosure of new information not efficient at sentencing does promote administration; indeed, it would result in unnecessary Consider the remedy if a defendant does delays. contemporaneously object to information of which he has just learned and is not prepared to rebut; due process would entitle the defendant to an adjournment of the proceedings to allow her to review and rebut this information. See State v. Damaske, 212 Wis. 2d 169, 196, 567 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1997). The proceedings would be delayed and essentially start anew once the defendant has an opportunity to review the information and conduct any follow-up research. In effect, this is the equivalent of the remedy that Counihan seeks: a new sentencing hearing.

entire scenario can be avoided. defendant's due process rights will be preserved, if the State and the court simply give advance notice of this information, a rule that is neither onerous nor unreasonable. Holding that the forfeiture rule does not apply when information is first disclosed at sentencing will put the State and courts on notice that if they want to rely on new information at sentencing, they must provide this information in advance of the hearing. This will give parties adequate notice, will allow all parties to diligently prepare, and will promote the efficient administration of justice without delay. See Ndina, 315 Wis. 2d 653, ¶ 30.

C. The Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Rubric is not an Effective Mechanism for Redress

For counsel's conduct to be considered deficient, counsel must have had a duty to object. See State v. McMahon, 186 Wis. 2d 68, 85, 519 N.W.2d 621 (Ct. App. 1994). Counihan submits that it is wholly unreasonable to impose a duty on counsel to object when counsel first learns of new information at the sentencing hearing, and particularly during the course of the court's sentencing explanation. When new information is first presented at sentencing, counsel is likely unprepared to know the accuracy or completeness of the information. When counsel is blindsided by new information, counsel may not know if it is even objectionable.

In addition, requiring counsel to object to new information first disclosed during the court's sentencing remarks places counsel in the precarious position of risking contempt and annoying, angering, or irritating the judge at a critical time. A court of law is a hallowed and dignified forum that demands respect and order. The State, victims, and the defendant are typically afforded an opportunity to be heard. After the court has given the parties an opportunity to present their arguments, the commands the floor. For an attorney, who has already been given an opportunity to speak, to interrupt the court while it is pronouncing sentence would be considered disrespectful, disruptive of courtroom order, and contrary to the rules of decorum. Even if counsel was able to voice a complete objection before being admonished by the court, counsel would risk being held in contempt of court for such conduct. Contempt is defined as intentional:

- (a) Misconduct in the presence of the court which interferes with a court proceeding or with the administration of justice, or which impairs the respect due the court;
- (b) Disobedience, resistance or obstruction of the authority, process or order of a court. . . .

Wis. Stat. § 785.01 (2017-18). Interrupting the court at a time when it—and only it—has the floor is the type of "out-of-turn . . . comments ... not permitted in the course of court proceedings." *Currie v. Schwalbach*, 139 Wis. 2d 544, 557, 407 N.W.2d 862 (1987).

Finally, an attorney's contemporaneous objection to the court conducting an independent investigation is likely not in the client's best interests. Unlike most objections, which are typically evidentiary based with the court calling balls and strikes, an objection in this scenario would target the judge's *conduct*, not simply the court's ruling. wise to interrupt the court and assert that it has violated the rules of judicial ethics, as discussed below, as the court is deciding your client's fate? A decision to forgo an objection in this circumstance would certainly reasonable, thereby foreclosing a defendant's ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 690 (1984) (stating that counsel's reasoned strategic decisions are "virtually unchallengeable."). This leaves defendants without a remedy for even the clearest due process violations, contrary to the guarantees of the Wisconsin constitution. Wis. Const. Art. I, § 9 (providing a right to a remedy for wrongs).

Other jurisdictions have concluded that trial counsel is not required to interrupt the court during its sentencing remarks to preserve an issue. *See e.g.*, *State v. Morgan*, 109 Idaho 1040, 712 P.2d 741, 744 (Ct. App. 1985); *Johnson v. State*, 348 Md. 337, 703 A.2d 1267, 1276 (Ct. App. 1996).

The Morgan case is strikingly similar to this case. In Morgan, the court reviewed information outside of the record, of which the defendant was unaware. Morgan, 712 P.2d at 743. The court disclosed this information during its sentencing remarks and the defendant did not object. Id. The court concluded that Morgan's due process right to rebut evidence presented at sentencing was violated and that his failure to object did not forfeit the issue. Id. at 744. The court explained that at the point the defendant learned of this information, all evidence had been presented, both sides advanced their arguments, and the matter had been submitted for a decision; "Had the judge desired to enlarge the record, he should have granted the parties a genuine opportunity to prepare and offer responsive information." Id.

As Justice Prosser—joined by Justices Ziegler and Gableman—noted in his *Ndina* concurrence, "No doubt there are situations in which the forfeiture rule does not apply because the defendant is not in a position to make a timely objection." *Ndina*, 315 Wis. 2d 653, ¶ 140. This is such a situation, where the parties' opportunity to present evidence, argument, and allocution is closed, and only the court holds the floor.

D. If the Forfeiture Rule Applies Generally to Information First Presented During the Court's Sentencing Remarks, this Court should not Invoke the Rule in this Case

At the risk of undermining Counihan's alternative ineffective assistance of counsel claim, there is currently no clear duty imposed on trial counsel to object to information first disclosed during the course of the court's sentence explanation. Deficient performance is "limited to situations where the law or duty is clear such that

reasonable counsel should know enough to raise the issue." *McMahon*, 186 Wis. 2d at 85.

The cases requiring counsel to object at sentencing all involve a failure to object to information that was disclosed prior to sentencing. State v. Benson, 2012 WI App 101, ¶¶ 5, 17, 344 Wis. 2d 126, 822 N.W.2d 484 (the defendant's counsel himself submitted the objectional information before sentencing); State v. Leitner, 2001 WI App 172, ¶ 41, 247 Wis. 2d 195, 633 N.W.2d 207 (objectional information contained in presentence report); see also State v. Mosley, 201 Wis. 2d 36, 45-46, 547 N.W.2d 806 (Ct. App. 1996) and Handel v. State, 74 Wis. 2d 699, 704, 247 N.W.2d 711 (1976) (court does not err in considering information in a presentence report to which the defendant did not object). Indeed, in cases where the information came during sentencing, this Court has not invoked forfeiture and has reached the merits. State v. Tiepelman, 2006 WI 66, 291 Wis. 2d 179, 717 N.W.2d 1; State v. Travis, 2013 WI 38, 347 Wis. 2d 142, 832 N.W.2d 491.

Finally, the Court should reach the merits of this case to determine whether a defendant has a sufficient opportunity to exercise her due process right to refute information relied upon in her sentence when she first learns of this information during the court's explanation of her sentence. As developed below, the court's conduct in independently investigating and relying "most significantly" on the results of that investigation, denied Counihan due process. This Court should make clear to judges that if they want to expand the record, they must first give parties advance notice and an opportunity to access and refute that information.

II. WHETHER A DEFENDANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHT AT SENTENCING IS VIOLATED WHEN THE COURT CONDUCTS AN INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATION INTO OTHER FILES WITHOUT ADVANCE NOTICE TO THE PARTIES AND RELIES ON THESE FILES AS THE "MOST SIGNIFICANT" INFORMATION AT SENTENCING?

A. Legal Principles

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