RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **07-31-2019**

IN SUPREME COUR PLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2017AP2265-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CARRIE E. COUNIHAN,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

APPEAL FROM A DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN DOOR COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DAVID L. WEBER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

COURTNEY K. LANZ Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1087092

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

A. It is well-established that a defendant forfeits appellate review of an alleged error, even one of constitutional dimension, by not timely objecting to it.

In *United States v. Olano*, 507 U.S. 725 (1993), the United States Supreme Court declared that "[n]o procedural principal is more familiar to this Court than that a constitutional right . . . may be forfeited in criminal as well as civil cases by the failure to make a timely assertion of the right before a tribunal having jurisdiction to determine it." *Id.* at 731 (quoting *Yakus v. United States*, 321 U.S. 414, 444 (1944)).

Wisconsin courts have long recognized that failure to object at trial generally precludes appellate review of a claim, even constitutional ones. See, e.g., State v. Pinno, 2014 WI 74, ¶ 56, 356 Wis. 2d 106, 850 N.W.2d 207 (the Sixth Amendment right to a public trial may be forfeited); State v. Ndina, 2009 WI 21, ¶¶ 30–31, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612 (acknowledging that "some rights are forfeited when they are not claimed at trial" and listing exceptions); State v. Huebner, 2000 WI 59, ¶¶ 10–11, 26, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727 (defendant forfeited his right to a 12–person

jury); State v. Torkelson, 2007 WI App 272, ¶ 25, 306 Wis. 2d 673, 743 N.W.2d 511 (the defendant forfeited any challenge to submitting two statutorily barred counts to the jury); State v. Davis, 199 Wis. 2d 513, 517–19, 545 N.W.2d 244 (Ct. App. 1996) (the defendant forfeited his claim that the prosecutor violated his right to be free from unreasonable searches by eliciting testimony from a police officer that the defendant would not consent to a chemical test for intoxication); State v. Edelburg, 129 Wis. 2d 394, 400–01, 384 N.W.2d 724 (Ct. App. 1986) (the defendant forfeited his claim that the circuit court reversibly erred by allowing the jury to separate for the night after it began deliberating).

Defendants can also incur forfeiture by failing to object at sentencing. For example, "[a]n alleged breach of a plea agreement is [forfeited] if the issue is not raised before a defendant is sentenced." State v. (Shomari) Robinson, 2001 WI App 127, ¶ 13, 246 Wis. 2d 180, 629 N.W.2d 810; see also State v. Lichty, 2012 WI App 126, ¶ 23, 344 Wis. 2d 733, 823 N.W.2d 830 (recognizing that "[a]lleged breaches of a plea agreement are [forfeited] unless the defendant objects to them when they occur"). The same is true for a claim that the sentencing court relied on inaccurate information. See State v. Benson, 2012 WI App 101, ¶ 17, 344 Wis. 2d 126, 822 N.W.2d 484 (the defendant forfeited his due process claim by failing to object to allegedly incorrect information in a report he submitted to the sentencing court); see also Handel v. State 74 Wis. 2d 699, 704, 247 N.W.2d 711 (1976) (the court did not misuse its discretion by considering facts in the presentence report that the defendant did not challenge); State v. Mosley, 201 Wis. 2d 36, 45–46, 547 N.W.2d 806 (Ct. App. 1996) (the defendant did not challenge the accuracy of certain statements in a presentence report at sentencing and therefore the "court did not misuse its discretion by considering them"). A challenge to the

sentencing court's consideration of underlying expunged convictions can also be forfeited by failure to object. See State v. Leitner, 2001 WI App 172, ¶ 41, 247 Wis. 2d 195, 633 N.W.2d 207 (acknowledging but deciding to ignore the forfeiture), aff'd, 2002 WI 77, 253 Wis. 2d 449, 646 N.W.2d 341. Forfeiture also applies when a defendant fails to object to a victim's sealed CHIPS records that the defendant did not know would be germane to sentencing until the circuit court began its sentencing remarks. State v. Samuel, 2001 WI App 25, ¶¶ 41–42, 240 Wis. 2d 756, 623 N.W.2d 565, rev'd on other grounds, 2002 WI 34, 252 Wis. 2d 26, 643 N.W.2d 423.

This case law stands for the proposition that "[t]he party must object in a timely fashion with specificity to allow the court and counsel to review the objection and correct any potential error." *Torkelson*, 306 Wis. 2d 673, ¶ 25.

³ In *State v. Grady*, this Court rejected the State's argument that the defendant had forfeited his claim that the court failed to follow its statutory obligation to consider the applicable sentencing guideline by not objecting at sentencing. 2007 WI 81, ¶ 14 n.4, 302 Wis. 2d 80, 734 N.W.2d 364. It stated in a footnote that "a postconviction motion is a timely means of raising an alleged error by the circuit court during sentencing." *Id*.

Grady arguably supports Counihan's position, though she does not rely on it. But this Court should not follow the decision. Grady involved a court's failure to follow a statutory duty, not its consideration of something new or improper at sentencing. As argued, case law holds that such claims can be forfeited by a defendant's failure to object, and Grady did not address or say it was overruling those decisions. In addition, State v. Gallion, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 14, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197, which the Grady court relied on when rejecting the State's forfeiture argument, does not support the court's decision. Indeed, forfeiture was not an issue in Gallion. Moreover, allowing defendants to timely raise

B. Applying the forfeiture rule in the sentencing context promotes better sentencing practices.

The forfeiture rule is a fundamental and well-established rule of judicial administration. *See Huebner*, 235 Wis. 2d 486, ¶ 11. It is "not merely a technicality or a rule of convenience; it is an essential principle of the orderly administration of justice" that goes to "the heart of the common law tradition and the adversary system." *Id*.

As in the trial phase, requiring a defendant to timely object to apparent sentencing errors promotes judicial efficiency and advances the public interest. "Contemporaneous objections give judges the opportunity to remedy an error so that it does not fester beneath the proceedings and infect the judgment of the court." *Pinno*, 356 Wis. 2d 106, ¶ 56. By allowing a circuit court "to avoid or correct any error with minimal disruption of the judicial process," a timely objection can eliminate the need for appeal. *Ndina*, 315 Wis. 2d 653, ¶ 30.

Should an appeal nonetheless result, a timely objection can ensure an adequate sentencing record by enabling the judge to remedy omissions or clarify and supplement inadequate explanations. The sentencing transcript is often the only record of the sentencing court's reasoning available postconviction. Where postconviction and appellate proceedings can occur months or years after a sentencing hearing, and before judges other than the original sentencing judge, an adequate sentencing transcript facilitates meaningful appellate review. *Cf. State v. Perry*,

issues after sentencing does not promote the efficient use of judicial resources nor does it provide for prompt relief from error.

128 Wis. 2d 297, 300, 381 N.W.2d 609 (Ct. App. 1985) ("It goes without saying that an adequate record is necessary for review of the issues raised on appeal."). Indeed, reviewing courts rely on the parties to flag possible errors as they arise.

Requiring a sentencing error to be preserved by timely objection also advances the public interest by "encourag[ing] parties to be vigilant lest they lose a right by failing to object to its denial." *Pinno*, 356 Wis. 2d 106, ¶ 56. The parties are thus incentivized to help the court meet its obligations while exercising its broad sentencing discretion and discouraged from "sandbagging," or strategically remaining silent about their objections to the sentence only to belatedly raise alleged errors on appeal if the case does not conclude in their favor. *Id.* By encouraging timely objections before the judge best equipped to resolve the errors efficiently and effectively, and closest in time to when the errors are made, consistently applying the forfeiture doctrine promotes better sentencing practices.

C. Counihan's arguments that the forfeiture rule should not apply to her claim are not persuasive.

Against these benefits of the forfeiture doctrine, Counihan overstates concerns of unfairness and delay. (Counihan's Br. 7–11.)

As for delay, Counihan argues that timely objecting to previously undisclosed information will require an adjournment and delay proceedings. (Counihan's Br. 8.) Yet the burden of sitting through an objection or an adjournment at sentencing "pales in comparison to the time and resources required to correct errors through a lengthy appeal and resentencing." *United States v. Flores-Mejia*, 759 F.3d 253, 258 (3d Cir. 2014) (en banc). That is all the more reason for

this Court to make clear that an objection is required to preserve sentencing claims like Counihan's for appeal. Giving circuit courts the opportunity to correct any potential errors immediately, or avoid them altogether, instead of months or even years later will do far more to preserve judicial resources and promote orderly justice than categorically exempting such claims from the forfeiture rule.

Moreover, we trust courts to decide whether or for how long to adjourn a proceeding, and to properly manage their dockets. See State v. Jackson, 69 Wis. 2d 266, 279, 230 N.W.2d 832 (1975) (finding "no abuse of discretion in the trial court's refusal to adjourn the sentencing" despite the parties' stipulation); State ex rel. Collins v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co., 153 Wis. 2d 477, 483, 451 N.W.2d 429 (1990) (noting that "[c]ircuit courts possess inherent discretionary authority to control their dockets with economy of time and effort"). Had Counihan objected, the parties could have reviewed the theft cases. It is unclear how long that would have taken, but presumably not the nearly 9 months between Counihan's sentencing and her assertion of an ineffective assistance claim in her amended postconviction motion. (R. 55; 77.)

Counihan further contends that applying forfeiture would deny her constitutional right to notice and an opportunity to fully prepare for sentencing. (Counihan's Br. 7–8.) In support, Counihan references several cases in which the defendant was faulted for failing to object to information that was disclosed before sentencing. (Counihan's Br. 12.) She cites *State v. Tiepelman*, 2006 WI 66, 291 Wis. 2d 179, 717 N.W.2d 1, and *State v. Travis*, 2013 WI 38, 347 Wis. 2d 142, 832 N.W.2d 491, for the proposition that where the disclosure occurred at sentencing, this Court ignored forfeiture and reached the claim's merits. (Counihan's Br. 12.) But it appears that the parties never addressed

forfeiture in either of those two cases, so the courts did not discuss or apply the rule. See Waushara County v. Graf, 166 Wis. 2d 442, 453, 480 N.W.2d 16 (1992) (Appellate courts have no obligation to consider issues that the parties do not raise.). These two decisions are best viewed as having nothing to say about forfeiture.

In any event, by clarifying that there will be consequences for a failure to object at sentencing to plainly new and potentially objectionable information, this Court will incentivize parties to diligently prepare for, and pay close attention during, the proceeding to be able to recognize possible error. While parties cannot be expected to prepare for what cannot be anticipated, they can and generally should be expected to object to and ask for the opportunity to review any unanticipated material information that comes to light during the hearing. A timely objection will efficiently and effectively prevent the court from relying on any improper or incorrect information in crafting the defendant's sentence.

Moreover, although Counihan argued in postconviction proceedings that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting or requesting an adjournment at sentencing, she now maintains that imposing such a duty on counsel is "wholly unreasonable." (Counihan's Br. 9.) This is because, she explains, counsel cannot be expected to know whether previously undisclosed information is objectionable and interrupting the sentencing court's remarks risks frustrating the court and even incurring a contempt charge. (Counihan's Br. 9–11.)

Neither reason is persuasive. If a party is unsure whether certain information he or she hears for the first time during sentencing is objectionable, the remedy is to object and request an adjournment, and thus help preclude error. Judges are generally accustomed to objections and should not be presumed "so thin-skinned and vindictive that counsel should be allowed to bypass the most immediate way of dealing with their grievances." *United States v. Kwiat*, 817 F.2d 440, 448 (7th Cir. 1987). Indeed, parties commonly challenge judges while cases are pending. They object to circuit court rulings, bring interlocutory appeals, and file recusal motions pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 757.19(2)(g). These circumstances can be awkward and even contentious, but parties are generally shielded by their lawyers, who must advocate for their clients, and judges are presumed to be able to set aside disagreements and rule fairly and impartially.

Given that Wis. Stat. § 972.14(2) obliges a circuit court to ask a defendant before pronouncing sentence "why sentence should not be pronounced upon him or her," and to afford defense counsel and the State the opportunity to address the court, it is not unreasonable to expect the parties to take advantage of those opportunities and speak up. That said, the court did not reveal to Counihan that it had reviewed the theft cases until after it had begun its sentencing remarks. (R. 77:47.) It is also reasonable for defense counsel to be reluctant to interrupt the court under those unique circumstances. ⁴

⁴ Objecting during the court's explanation of its sentence is not impossible, however. In $State\ v.\ Samuel$, the court of appeals rejected a defendant's argument that he could not have objected because he did not know the circuit court was going to rely on certain sealed CHIPS records concerning the victim until it began its sentencing remarks. 2001 WI App 25, ¶ 41, 240 Wis. 2d 756, 623 N.W.2d 565, rev'd on other grounds, 2002 WI 34, 252 Wis. 2d 26, 643 N.W.2d 423. The court of appeals explained that the defendant "had as much right to object then as at any other time during the proceeding." Id. ¶ 42. While it may not be necessary to

Accordingly, the State proposes that an objection to consideration of information the court's during sentencing remarks could still be timely made, and the claim preserved, once the court concludes its remarks, or before the hearing is adjourned. Even if the defense objects after the court has announced its sentence, the court can still act to correct any error and change its sentence. A defendant would not have a legitimate expectation of finality in the sentence just announced and that she objected to. See, e.g., State v. (Jacqueline) Robinson, 2014 WI 35, ¶¶ 19–50, 354 Wis. 2d 351, 847 N.W.2d 352 (holding that the court's increasing defendant's sentence the day after sentencing based on court's realization that it was mistaken about defendant's prior record did not violate double jeopardy). To facilitate appellate review, this Court can encourage circuit courts to afford the parties a reasonable opportunity to object after its sentencing remarks or just before the sentencing hearing concludes. See, e.g., State v. Howell, 2007 WI 75, ¶ 51, 301 Wis. 2d 350, 734 N.W.2d 48 (encouraging circuit courts to use the suggested methods of ascertaining a defendant's understanding of a charge).

In sum, Counihan's concerns about applying the forfeiture rule under the circumstances of her case pale in comparison to the benefits the rule confers. And the court of appeals made a straightforward application of the forfeiture rule here. Whether a defendant has adequately preserved claims for appeal is a question of law this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Corey J.G.*, 215 Wis. 2d 395, 405, 572 N.W.2d 845 (1998). Counihan had two clear opportunities to object at sentencing to the circuit court's review of the theft cases

object during the court's explanation of its sentence to preserve a claim, *Samuel* demonstrates that doing so is possible.

without interrupting the proceedings. She could have spoken after the court concluded its sentencing remarks when it asked her whether sentence should be pronounced, or at the conclusion of sentencing when the court asked the parties if there was anything further to discuss. (R. 77:64, 66.) Counihan did neither and thus forfeited her due process claim.

II. An appellate court may review forfeited claims under ineffective assistance of counsel or plain error.

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